

**BY-LAWS OF THE FULSHEAR STORM DANCE TEAM BOOSTER**

**TABLE OF CONTENTS**

**Table of Contents..... p 1**

**ARTICLE 1 – NAME..... p 2**

**ARTICLE 2 – PURPOSES..... p 2**

**ARTICLE 3 – DURATION..... p 3**

**ARTICLE 4 – POWERS..... p 3**

**ARTICLE 5 – POLICIES..... pp 3-4**

**ARTICLE 6 – OFFICES..... p 4**

**ARTICLE 7 – REGISTERED AGENT..... p 4**

**ARTICLE 8 – MEMBERSHIP..... p 5**

**ARTICLE 9 – DUES..... p 6**

**ARTICLE 10 – MEMBERS MEETINGS..... pp 6-7**

**ARTICLE 11 – EXECUTIVE BOARD..... p 7-8**

**ARTICLE 12 – EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING..... p 8**

**ARTICLE 13 – OFFICERS..... pp 8-9**

**ARTICLE 14 – DUTIES OF OFFICERS..... pp 9-13**

**ARTICLE 15 - COMMITTEES..... pp 13-14**

**ARTICLE 16 - DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEES..... pp 14-15**

**ARTICLE 17 - FISCAL YEAR AND POLICIES..... pp 15-16**

**ARTICLE 18 – CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY..... pp 16-19**

**ARTICLE 19 – PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY..... p 19**

**ARTICLE 20 – INDEMNIFICATION..... pp 19-20**

**ARTICLE 21 – DISTRIBUTION OF INCOME..... pp 20-21**

**ARTICLE 22 – AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS..... p 21**

**ARTICLE 1 – NAME**

- 1.1 The name of this non-profit organization shall be Fulshear Storm Dance Team Booster Inc. (“FSDTB”)**

**ARTICLE 2 – MISSION AND PURPOSES**

- 2.1 FSDTB is a non-profit organization established exclusively for educational and charitable purposes within the meaning of Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code or corresponding section of any future Federal Tax Code (“Code”).**
- 2.2 The educational and charitable purposes of FSDTB shall include:**
  - 2.2.1 The raising of funds and distribution of such funds to the Churchill Fulshear High School Dance Team Program within the Lamar Consolidated Independent School District provided such actions are within the University Interscholastic League, Texas Dance Educators Association, and Lamar Consolidated Independent School District policies and procedures;**
  - 2.2.2 The promotion and support of the continuing growth and development of the Churchill Fulshear High School Dance Team Program;**
  - 2.2.3 The promotion of dance awareness throughout the community by Churchill Fulshear High School, greater performance attendance, and other public support of all Churchill Fulshear High School dance activities, hereby rendering moral support to the students;**
  - 2.2.4 To purchase, receive, develop, and maintain equipment and supplies for the enrichment of the Churchill Fulshear High School Dance Team Program, provided such actions are within the University Interscholastic League, Texas**

**Dance Educators Association, and Lamar Consolidated Independent School District policies and procedures.**

## **ARTICLE 3 – DURATION**

- 3.1 The duration of FSDTB’s existence shall be perpetual.**

## **ARTICLE 4 – POWERS**

- 4.1 The powers of FSDTB are as follows:**

**4.1.1 To solicit, accept, and collect donations and contributions in cash or property, real, personal, or mixed.**

**4.1.2 To acquire by purchase, lease, contract, or otherwise, any property, real, personal, or mixed.**

**4.1.3 To do any and all such further acts and to exercise any and all such further powers as may be necessary, incidental, conducive, appropriate, or desirable for the accomplishment of carrying on of attainment of all or any of the objectives or purpose enumerated in these By-Laws; and to have and to exercise all the powers conferred by the laws of the State of Texas upon charitable organizations, as such laws are now in effect or may at any time hereafter be enacted or amended.**

- 4.2 Notwithstanding any other provision of these By-Laws, the FSDTB shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on:**

**4.2.1 By an organization exempt from Federal Income Tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding section of any future tax code; or**

**4.2.2 By an organization to which contributions are deductible under Section 170(c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the corresponding section of any future tax code.**

## ARTICLE 5 – POLICIES

- 5.1 The following are the basic policies of the FSDTB:**
- 5.1.1 The FSDTB shall be noncommercial, nonsectarian, and nonpartisan;**
  - 5.1.2 The FSDTB shall not attempt to influence legislation and shall not participate or intervene in (including the publishing or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of, or in opposition to, any candidate for public office;**
  - 5.1.3 The Voting Members of the FSDTB shall approve all fundraising projects and shall implement such fundraising activities as are required to meet the budget needs of FSDTB.**

## ARTICLE 6 – OFFICES

- 6.1 Principal Office: The address of the FSDTB’s principal office in Texas shall be 9302 Charger Way, Fulshear, Tx 77441. The FSDTB may have such other offices as the members may determine. The members may change the location of any office of the FSDTB.**
- 6.2 Registered Office: The FSDTB shall remain a registered office in Texas. The initial registered office shall be as designated in the Articles of Incorporation. The members may change the registered office as permitted in the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act.**

## ARTICLE 7 – REGISTERED AGENT

- 7.1 Initial Registered Agent: The FSDTB shall maintain a registered agent in Texas. The initial registered agent of the FSDTB shall be as designated in the Articles of Incorporation.**

- 7.2 **Change in Registered Agent:** The members may change the registered agent as permitted in the Texas Non-Profit Corporation Act.

## **ARTICLE 8 – MEMBERSHIP**

- 8.1 **Voting Members:** Membership is for parents and/or guardians of students currently enrolled and participating in the Dance Team Program at Churchill Fulshear High School. To become a Voting Member a parent, guardian, or past Voting Member must complete, on an annual basis, an enrollment form along with payment of annual dues.
- 8.2 **Non-Voting Members:** Any other financial supporter of the Churchill Fulshear High School Dance Team Program may be a Non-Voting Member.
- 8.3 **Advisory Non-Voting Members:** The Dance Team Program Director(s) shall be Advisory, Non-Voting Member(s).
- 8.4 **Powers of Voting Members:** The Voting Members shall:
- 8.4.1 Transact all business of the FSDTB;
  - 8.4.2 Establish special committees;
  - 8.4.3 Approve a budget for the fiscal year;
  - 8.4.4 Approve contracts and letters of agreement of the FSDTB within the limits of the budget;
  - 8.4.5 Approve all fundraising activities;
  - 8.4.6 Participate in the nominations process along with the officers; and
  - 8.4.7 Elect all officers and committee chairs;
  - 8.4.8 Exercise all such powers and do all such lawful acts and things as are not prohibited by statute or by the Articles of Incorporation or these By-Laws.
- 8.5 **All FSDTB members must register with LCISD as a volunteer.**

- 8.6 Parents of all participating Churchill Fulshear High School Dance Team Program students are considered active members of FSDTB once the annual FSDTB dues are paid and Dance Team Program fees for their student have been collected.

## **ARTICLE 9 – DUES**

- 9.1 Initially, a Voting Member shall pay \$100.00 a year in dues per family. The Voting Members may set and change the annual dues payable at the beginning of each school year and not later than fourteen (14) days after the first day of school. Upon recommendation of the director, the Executive Board can waive or reduce the dues owed by an individual Voting Member. The members will develop criteria to be used by the director in determining when to make such a recommendation.
- 9.2 Non-Voting Members shall pay no dues.
- 9.3 Advisory Members shall pay no dues.
- 9.4 Membership Dues will be paid annually and assessed for one fiscal year from July 1- June 30.

## **ARTICLE 10 – MEMBERS MEETINGS**

- 10.1 Annual Meetings: An annual meeting shall be held in May of each year. The Executive Board shall set a specific date each year during April and communicate the date to the members at the April monthly meeting.
- 10.2 Monthly Meeting: The FSDTB shall meet on the second Tuesday of each month, excluding June and July, at 7:00pm at the Churchill Fulshear High School Dance Room, Auditorium, or other appropriate designated area. The regular meeting date, time, and place may be changed at the beginning of each school year by a majority of the Voting Members at the first monthly meeting after school begins.
- 10.3 Special Meetings: Special Meetings may be called by the Executive Board or by any Voting Member with the approval of the Executive Board, or, if requested at the scheduled monthly

meeting, with the majority consent of the attending Voting Members. Special meetings may be held at the Churchill Fulshear High School Dance Room, Auditorium, or other appropriate designated area.

**10.4 Quorum:** A quorum of seven (7) members is required at any meeting to transact business.

**10.5 Voting:** A majority of Voting Members present shall approve all matters. Each Voting Member is entitled to one (1) vote. No proxy votes shall be accepted.

## **ARTICLE 11 – EXECUTIVE BOARD**

**11.1** The Executive Board shall consist of the officers and chairs of standing committees of the FSDTB.

**11.2** The Executive Board shall:

**11.2.1** Coordinate and oversee the work of the FSDTB and its committees;

**11.2.2** Make recommendations to the Voting Members for activities and expenditures;

**11.2.3** Nominate a chair for any special committees established by the members;

**11.2.4** Authorize expenditures up to \$500.00 on an emergency basis if a special meeting of the Voting Members cannot be convened in a timely manner to consider the expenditure. The Executive Board shall ask the Voting Members to ratify any such emergency expenditure at the next monthly meeting following the expenditure;

**11.2.5** Develop an agenda and recommendations for the members meeting;

**11.2.6** Establish the date for the annual meeting of the members; and

- 11.2.7 Determine the interpretation to be placed on these By-Laws or any part or parts thereof that may be in conflict or of doubtful meaning.**

## **ARTICLE 12 – EXECUTIVE BOARD MEETING**

- 12.1 Monthly Meetings: The Executive Board shall meet at least once per month prior to the members monthly meeting. The Executive Board shall establish the date and time for the monthly meeting at the beginning of each school year.**
- 12.2 Annual Meetings: There shall be a combined meeting of the outgoing Executive Board and the newly elected Executive Board by the end of the fiscal year, at which time each outgoing member of the Executive Board will present all notes and documents of the year’s work to his/her successor.**
- 12.3 Quorum: A majority of the members of the Executive Board shall constitute a quorum.**
- 12.4 Voting: Each Executive Board member shall have one (1) vote on actions voted on by the Executive Board. All actions, except authorization of an emergency expenditure, shall require a majority vote for approval. The Executive Board shall approve an emergency expenditure by a two-thirds majority vote. No proxy votes will be accepted.**

## **ARTICLE 13 – OFFICERS**

- 13.1 The officers of the FSDTB shall be as follows:**
- 13.1.1 President**
  - 13.1.2 Vice President**
  - 13.1.2 (a) Co-Vice President**
  - 13.1.3 Secretary**

**13.1.4 Treasurer**

**13.1.5 Member at Large-1**

**13.1.5 (a) Member at Large-2**

**13.1.6 The Voting Members may create additional officer positions, define authority and duties of each position, and elect or appoint persons to fill the positions. Each officer is a member of the Executive Board.**

**13.2 Only a Voting Member may be an officer of the FSDTB.**

**13.3 The Voting Members shall elect officers for the next school year at the annual meeting in May.**

**13.4 Each officer shall assume his/her duties and shall serve for a term of one (1) year or until a successor is elected at the annual meeting in May and a transition meeting will be held in June at which time the new officers will assume their positions and duties.**

**13.5 No officer shall serve in the same office more than two (2) consecutive terms. An officer who has served more than one-half of a term shall be credited with having served that term. If a term limit is reached, and the officer has interest in serving for an additional term, a majority of votes by the Executive Board can extend the term limit on a year to year basis for that office position.**

**13.6 A person may serve in more than one office position, except the President and the Secretary which must be separate persons and may serve as an officer and committee chair if no one else will fill the offices or chairs.**

**13.7 In the event an office (except President) or committee chair is vacated, the Executive Board shall appoint a Voting Member to complete the term. In the event the office of President is vacated, the Vice President shall become the President and the**

**Executive Board shall appoint a Voting Member to fill the office of Vice President.**

## **ARTICLE 14 – DUTIES OF OFFICERS**

### **14.1 President: The President shall;**

- 14.1.1 Provide leadership to the FSDTB;**
- 14.1.2 Conduct all scheduled and special meetings of the FSDTB and the Executive Board;**
- 14.1.3 Prepare the written agenda for the Executive Board and FSDTB Member meetings;**
- 14.1.4 Countersign checks in the absence of the Vice President or Treasurer;**
- 14.1.5 Sign all contracts and letters of agreement with the approval of the Voting Members;**
- 14.1.6 Represent, or appoint someone to represent, FSDTB at an outside function; provided nothing shall be undertaken in the name of FSDTB without prior approval of the membership;**
- 14.1.7 Oversee the activities of the sponsorship committee.**
- 14.1.8 Oversee the activities of the website coordinator.**
- 14.1.9 Be an ex officio of all committees; and**
- 14.1.10 Perform other duties as required.**

**14.2 Vice President and Co-Vice President: The Vice President and Co-Vice President shall;**

- 14.2.1 Act in the absence of the President;**
- 14.2.2 Assist the President as requested;**
- 14.2.3 Plan and coordinate a membership campaign; (Move to Secretary Duties as 14.3.8)**
- 14.2.4 Welcome parents/guardians of new Dance Team Program students and encourage participation in the FSDTB;**
- 14.2.5 Perform other duties as assigned by the Members;**
- 14.2.6 Countersign checks in the absence of the President or Treasurer;**
- 14.2.7 Oversee the activities of all fundraising events;**

**14.3 Secretary: The Secretary shall:**

- 14.3.1 Record the minutes of all the Members meetings and Executive Board meetings;**
- 14.3.2 Present the most recent Executive Board minutes at each Executive Board meeting;**
- 14.3.3 Read the most recent Member's meeting minutes at each Member's meeting;**
- 14.3.4 Prepare a permanent, hard copy of all minutes including the monthly Treasurer's Report for archive purposes;**
- 14.3.5 Be responsible for all FSDTB correspondence, mailings, and publicity notices;**
- 14.3.6 Possess the authority to be a responsible party on the bank account;**

- 14.3.7 Advise the presiding officer on questions of parliamentary law and method of procedure.**
- 14.3.8 Plan and coordinate a membership campaign (Moved from Vice President Duties)**
- 14. 3.9 Create and update the FSDTB membership list;**
- 14.3.10 Maintain a database of all Churchill Fulshear High School Dance Team Program students which shall include their names, addresses, telephone numbers, team position/rank, and parent/guardian names and contact info for FSDTB use;**
- 14.3.11 Be responsible for the preparation, publication, and distribution of the FSDTB Directory for each Dance Team Program student;**
- 14.3.12 Furnish mailing labels;**
- 14.3.13 Maintain an accurate record of attendance at the members meetings.**

**14.4 Treasurer: The Treasurer shall:**

- 14.4.1 Have custody of and account for all funds of the FSDTB;**
- 14.4.2 Keep books of accounts and records including bank statements, receipts, budgets, invoices, paid receipts, and cancelled checks for seven (7) years or permanently if required by law, such as IRS 990;**
- 14.4.3 Present any unapproved bills or charges to the FSDTB Members at the next Member's meeting;**
- 14.4.4 Make disbursements as authorized by the members of the Executive Board in accordance with the budget adopted by the FSDTB and upon the receipt of check request;**
- 14.4.5 Keep a list of all money appropriated but not yet paid;**

- 14.4.6 Present a current Treasurer’s Report at each regularly scheduled Executive Board meeting and at each regularly scheduled Member’s meeting;**
- 14.4.7 Prepare a permanent hard copy record of each monthly Treasurer’s Report for delivery to the Secretary;**
- 14.4.8 Prepare the proposed annual budget for the FSDTB base on submissions by each committee chair and submit this budget to the Executive Board for comment and to the Members for approval at the August meeting;**
- 14.4.9 Countersign all checks;**
- 14.4.10 Maintain the necessary bank accounts for FSDTB;**
- 14.4.11 Oversee the activities of the Fundraising Treasurer; and**
- 14.4.12 Accurately and timely file all necessary governmental reports and forms to change the registered agent and registered office.**

**14.5 Member at Large The Member at Large shall:**

- 14.5.1 Attend all meetings and perform any necessary duties in the absences of other Executive Board members;**
- 14.5.2 Perform other duties as required.**

## **ARTICLE 15- COMMITTEES**

**15.1 Standing Committees: The following committees shall be standing committees and shall be formed by a majority of the Voting Members:**

- 15.1.1 Fundraising Committee**
- 15.1.2 Sponsorship Committee**

**15.1.3 Website Coordinator**

**15.2 Chairs and Co-Chairs:** Each standing committee will be led by a chair person or co-chairs who shall be appointed by the Executive Board at the annual meeting of members with consent of said members. In addition, the chair may be assisted by a co-chair who will assume committee leadership if the assigned chair is unable to complete service in the post.

**15.3 Committee Members:** The chair of each committee shall recruit members for the committee to accomplish the tasks of that committee.

**15.4 Budget:** The chair of each committee shall submit budget requests to the Treasurer by August 1<sup>st</sup> each year.

**15.5 Reports:** Each committee chair shall keep a record of its activities and accomplishments (if applicable) and provide that record to the next chair of that committee.

**15.6** All committee members shall be Voting Members of FSDTB and current, registered volunteers of LCISD.

## **ARTICLE 16- DUTIES OF THE COMMITTEES**

**16.1 Fundraising Committee-** The Fundraising Committee shall:

**16.1.1** Identify and present recommendations for ongoing and annual fundraising activities for the FSDTB to the members for approval;

**16.1.2** Plan and implement all fundraising activities approved by the members;

**16.1.3** Work to ensure that all fundraising activities are well-publicized; and

**16.1.4** Solicit approval for proposed fundraisers from Fulshear HS Principal via FSDT Coach.

**16.2 Sponsorship Committee-** The Sponsorship Committee shall:

- 16.2.1** Coordinate the collection of community sponsorships;
- 16.2.2** Act as liaison between the Executive Board & Sponsors;
- 16.2.3** Coordinate team appearances & events;
- 16.2.4** Coordinate sponsor events with Fundraising Committee Chair(s); and
- 16.2.5** Work to ensure that all sponsor activities are well-publicized.

**16.3 Website Coordinator- The Website Coordinator shall:**

- 16.3.1** Manage and update fulshearstormdance.org website
- 16.3.2** Contact the President for all changes, deletion and additions that are made to the website
- 16.3.3** Make changes, additions, and deletions in a timely fashion as to keep the website current and up to date
- 16.3.4** Work closely with the Sponsorship committee to keep all sponsorships presented on the website accurate and up to date.
- 16.3.5** If a voting member of the boosters is not available for the position, a non-voting member can be assigned with an approval vote from the voting members.
- 16.3.6** Amongst the members of the committee, a historian will be chosen to commit to recording and photographing Storm Dance Team events to be shared with the director and to be provided to the website coordinator.

## **ARTICLE 17 – FISCAL YEAR AND POLICIES**

- 17.1 Fiscal Year: The fiscal year of the FSDTB shall begin on July 1st and end on June 30th of each year.**

Amended by Amanda Barr

August 15, 2022FSDTB

~Amended Article 9-DUES section 9.1 (voted on March 2022) and Article 13-OFFICERS: Co-VP and Member at Large-2 (voted on April 2022)

**17.2 Expenses:**

- 17.2.1 Expenses may be approved for reimbursement provided funds are designated in the budget for that purpose and are available. However, the Executive Board shall approve in advance any single expenditure under \$500.00 that is outside of the prepared budget, and such approval shall be noted in the Executive Board minutes. Any expenditures over \$500.00 not in the prepared budget shall be approved by the vote of the Members and such approval shall be noted in the minutes of the Member's Meeting;**
- 17.2.2 A check request form and original receipt shall be submitted to the Treasurer for reimbursement within seven (7) days following the expenditure; provided however, that all check requests and receipts must be submitted by June 15th;**
- 17.2.3 Sales tax will not be reimbursed.**

**17.3 Receipts:**

- 17.3.1 All FSDTB monies must be submitted to the Treasurer within seven days of receipt;**
- 17.3.2 The Treasurer must deposit all monies within seven (7) days of receipt.**

**17.4 Bank Accounts:**

- 17.4.1 The FSDTB Treasurer shall maintain in good faith an account only in an FDIC insured financial institution;**
- 17.4.2 To the extent possible, any FSDTB account will not be subject to any fees;**
- 17.4.3 All checks issued by the FSDTB shall be signed by two (2) offices of the Executive Board;**
- 17.4.4 All expenses made by the Treasurer via the debit card shall be submitted with an Authorization Form to be**

signed by one (1) of the other members of the Executive Board.

- 17.5 Tax-Exempt Status:** The FSDTB shall maintain tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(3) of the United States Internal Revenue Code.
- 17.6 No Benefit of Earnings:** No part of the net earnings of the FSDTB shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributed to, its members, officers, Executive Board, or other private persons, except the FSDTB shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of the purposes set forth the in Article 2 hereof.
- 17.7 Debt Liability:** Liability for debts of the FSDTB shall be limited to the property of the FSDTB.

## **ARTICLE 18 – CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY**

**18.1 Purpose:** The purpose of the “Conflict of Interest Policy” is to protect this tax-exempt organization’s (FSDTB) interest when it is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private interest of an Officer or Director of the FSDTB or might result in a possible excess benefit transaction. This policy is intended to supplement but not to replace any applicable state and federal laws governing conflict of interest applicable to nonprofit and charitable organizations.

**18.2 Definitions:**

**18.2.1 Interested Person:**

**Any director, principal officer, or member of a committee with governing board delegated powers who has a direct or indirect financial interest, as defined below, is an interested person;**

**18.2.2 Financial Interest:**

**A person has a financial interest if the person has, directly or indirectly, through business, investment, or family;**

**18.2.2.1 An ownership or investment interest in any entity with which the FSDTB has a transaction or arrangement;**

**18.2.2.2 A compensation arrangement with the FSDTB or with any entity or individual with which the FSDTB has a transaction or arrangement, or**

**18.2.2.3 A potential ownership or investment interest in, or compensation arrangement with, any entity or individual with which the FSDTB is negotiating a transaction or arrangement.**

**18.2.2.4 Compensation includes direct and indirect remuneration as well as gifts or favors that are not insubstantial.**

**18.2.2.5 A financial interest is not necessarily a conflict of interest. Under Article 11, Section 11.2.7, a person who has a financial interest may have a conflict of interest only if the appropriate governing board or committee decides that a conflict of interest exists.**

### **18.3 Procedures:**

#### **18.3.1 Duty to Disclose**

**In connection with any actual or possible conflict of interest, an interested person must disclose the existence of the financial interest and be given the opportunity to disclose all material facts to the directors and members of committees with governing board delegated powers considering the proposed transaction or arrangement;**

#### **18.3.2 Determining Whether a Conflict of Interest Exists:**

**After disclosure of the financial interest and all material facts, and after any discussion with the interested person, he/she shall leave the governing board or committee meeting while the determination of a conflict of interest is discussed and voted upon. The remaining board or committee members shall decide if a conflict of interest exists.**

**18.3.3 Procedures for Addressing the Conflict of Interest:**

**18.3.3.1 An interested person may make a presentation at the governing board or committee meeting, but after the presentation, he/she shall leave the meeting during the discussion of, and the vote on, the transaction or arrangement involving the possible conflict of interest.**

**18.3.3.2 The chairperson of the governing board or committee shall, if appropriate, appoint a disinterested person or committee to investigate alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement.**

**18.3.3.3 After exercising due diligence, the governing board or committee shall determine whether the FSDTB can obtain with reasonable efforts a more advantageous transaction or arrangement from a person or entity that would not give rise to a conflict of interest.**

**18.3.3.4 If a more advantageous transaction or arrangement is not reasonably possible under circumstances not producing a conflict of interest, the governing board or committee shall determine by a majority vote of the disinterested directors whether the transaction or arrangement is in the FSDTB's best interest, for its own benefit, and whether it is fair and reasonable. In conformity with the above**

determination it shall make its decision as to whether to enter into the transaction or arrangement.

## **ARTICLE 19 – PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY**

**19.1** The rules contained in the current edition of Robert’s Rules of Order shall be used to conduct all meetings and shall govern the FSDTB in all cases in which they are applicable and in which they are not in conflict with these By-Laws or the Articles of Incorporation.

## **ARTICLE 20 – INDEMNIFICATION**

**20.1** To the extent permitted by law, the FSDTB shall indemnify any one or more of its officers or former offers, committee members, or former committee members who was, is, or may be named a defendant or respondent in any action, suit or proceeding or any inquiry or investigation because of his or her acts or omissions within the scope of his or her official capacity in the FSDTB.

**20.2** The indemnity under these By-Laws includes indemnity against judgements, penalties (including excise and other taxes), fines, settlements, and reasonable expenses (including attorney’s fees) actually incurred in connection with/of such action, suit, or proceeding or any inquiry or investigation.

**20.3** The FSDTB shall indemnify a person only if he or she:

**20.3.1** Acted in good faith;

**20.3.2** Reasonably believed, in the case of conduct in his/her official capacity that his/her conduct was in the FSDTB’s best interest;

**20.3.3** Reasonably believed, in all other cases, that his/her conduct was at least not opposed to the FSDTB’s best interest; and

**20.3.4 In the case of any criminal proceeding had not reasonable cause to believe his/her conduct was unlawful.**

**20.4 The FSDTB shall not indemnify a person who is found liable to the FSDTB or is found liable to another based on improperly receiving a personal benefit from the FSDTB. A person is conclusively considered to have been found liable in relation to any claim, issue, or matter if the person has been adjudged liable by court of competent jurisdiction and all appeals have been exhausted.**

**20.5 Before the FSDTB may pay any indemnification expenses (including attorney's fees), the FSDTB must specifically determine (by majority vote of the Members at a Special Meeting called for this purpose) that indemnification is permissible, authorize indemnification, and determine that expenses to be reimbursed are reasonable.**

## **ARTICLE 21 – DISTRIBUTION OF INCOME**

**21.1 Upon the dissolution of the FSDTB, the Executive Board, after paying or adequately providing for the debts and obligations of the FSDTB, shall distribute the remaining assets to one or more non-profit funds, foundations, or organizations which have established their tax exempt status under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, and, if possible, they will have as their mission to support the Churchill Fulshear High School Dance Team Program, Churchill Fulshear High School Fine Arts Department, or the Lamar Consolidated ISD's Fine Arts Department.**

## **ARTICLE 22 – AMENDMENTS TO THE BY-LAWS**

**22.1 The Members may amend these By-Laws at any regularly scheduled meeting of the FSDTB by a two-thirds vote of the**

**Members present and voting. Notice of the proposed amendments shall have been sent to the Voting Members at least fifteen (15) days prior to the meeting at which the vote is taken.**

**22.2 The Members may appoint a committee to submit a revised set of By-Laws as a substitute for the existing By-Laws only by a majority vote of the FSDTB, or by a two-thirds vote of the Executive Board. The Members shall adopt any revised By-Laws in the manner provided in section 22.1.**

**Revision #2 approved by members via email vote on April 2-4, 2020 due to school closure for Coronavirus.**